1991

Van Waters & Rogers v. Steven Regan Company, and Steven M. Harmsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF CASE

JURISDICTION

This appeal is taken pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), U.C.A., 1953, as amended.

NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from a Summary Judgment entered in the Third Judicial District Court, on May 4, 1990, the Honorable Pat B. Brian presiding, in which Appellant, Stephen M. Harmsen, was found to personally liable for the debts of Steve Regan Company to Van Waters & Rogers, Inc.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

When viewed in the light most favorable to Appellant Harmsen, the record shows that there is a dispute as to material facts and therefore does not support a Summary Judgment in favor of Appellees.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue in this case is a matter of law and procedure,

challenging a summary judgment granted to the appellee and the appellate court is "free to reappraise the trial Court's legal conclusions" (Barber v. Farmer's Insurance Exchange, 751 P.2d 248 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); and the court must review the "facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below" giving "no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law which are reviewed for correctness." (Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

"(a) For Claimant. A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof....

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon.... The judgment shall be rendered ... if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law....

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion....[the Court] shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy ... and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly...."

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56

STATEMENT OF CASE

NATURE OF CASE

This is a Civil matter in which Plaintiff, Van Waters & Rogers, Inc. (hereinafter Van Waters) brought suit against Steve Regan Company (hereinafter Steve Regan) and Stephen M. Harmsen, individually (hereinafter Harmsen) to collect certain trade debts owing them.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The parties stipulated to the liability of Steve Regan but Harmsen contested any personal liability for the debt. The Court granted Summary Judgment against the defendants in the amount of \$14,625.66 together with interest from December 13, 1988 and declared that Harmsen was personally liable for the debts of Steve Regan. Harmsen appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Harmsen was formerly an officer of Steve Regan.
2. During the time that Harmsen was an officer, Steve Regan incurred a debt to Van Waters.
3. Agents of Van Waters asked Harmsen to personally guarantee

the trade debts of Steve Regan by signing a guarantee form.

4. Harmsen refused to sign said guarantee because he had no desire or intention to personally guarantee the debts of Steve Regan.

5. When Harmsen refused to sign the personal guarantee, agents of Van Waters told him that he should sign the guarantee in his capacity as an officer of Steve Regan and that the guarantee would be limited to a guarantee on behalf of Steve Regan.

6. Having already received the goods from Van Waters, Harmsen signed the guarantee form by signing the words "Steve Regan Company - Stephen M. Harmsen - President" on the line labeled "signed" and did not write anything in the lines calling for a home address and Social Security Number.

7. Van Waters brought suit against Steve Regan and Harmsen, individually.

8. The parties stipulated in open Court that Steve Regan was liable to Van Waters.

9. Van Waters filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was Opposed by Harmsen with his Affidavit setting forth under oath the facts concerning his intent not to personally guarantee the debt in his individual capacity.

10. In its reply Memorandum Van Waters conceded that Steve Regan was already obligated to pay Van Waters when Harmsen signed the guarantee form.

11. On May 4, 1990, notwithstanding the disputed issues of material fact, the Court granted Summary Judgment to Van Waters and

ruled that Harmsen was personally liable for the debt to Van Waters.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary Judgment is appropriately granted only when there are no issues of material fact in dispute (Bill Brown Realty, Inc. v. Abbott, 562 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975)). Harmsen has disputed his intention to personally guaranty the debts of Steve Regan. Considered in a light most favorable to Harmsen, the issues of intent and consideration are matters which are appropriate for trial. Therefore, no Summary Judgment is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

Where the parties were not in complete conflict as to certain facts (i.e. the parties agree that Harmsen signed the guarantee agreement) but the "understanding, intention, and consequences of those facts were hotly disputed, the matter was not appropriate for summary judgment and could only be resolved by a trial." (Sandburg v. Klein, 576 P.2d 1291 (Utah 1978)).

"It only takes one sworn statement to dispute averments on other side of controversy and create issue of fact, precluding summary judgment." (Holbrook Co. b. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975)). Harmsen filed a sworn affidavit as to his intentions, in

opposition to the Plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment, putting said fact at issue.

The conversation with Van Waters' agents in which they agreed to accept Harmsen's guarantee as an officer of Steve Regan only as well as the fact that the goods had been delivered previous to Harmsen's signing of the guarantee further puts the facts at issue, and creates a dispute which can only be adjudicated in trial.

The goods had been delivered to Steve Regan at the time Harmsen signed the guarantee, which raises the issue of consideration and must be adjudicated in trial.

In a case very similar to the instant case, the Plaintiff had brought suit against a third party (who had signed a guarantee document) to collect a debt owing by a different business. The defendant admitted that he had signed the document but disputed that he had intended to personally guarantee the debt and argued further that the goods had already been delivered at the time of the signing of the document. In that case the Utah Court of Appeals held that:

"A review of this evidence in the light most favorable to [the defendant] indicates that the written guaranty was not executed until after the goods had been delivered. This leaves a genuine question of material fact whether the document is merely a memorialization of a parol agreement made between the parties or their agents prior to the delivery of the goods, or a gratuitous promise made thereafter. Without a previous parol agreement, the signed document may be unenforceable. See Dementas v. Estate of Dallas, 764 P.2d 628, 633 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) ("Events which occur prior to the making of the promise and not with the purpose of inducing the promise in exchange are viewed as

'past consideration ' and are the legal equivalent of 'no consideration'") (quoting 1A. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts Sec. 210 (1963)).

Although the trial court did not articulate its reasoning behind the grant of summary judgment, only one material fact in dispute is required to reverse a summary judgment. See Ruffinengo v. Miller, 579 P.2d 342, 343 (Utah 1978). Since we hold that the evidence of a parol agreement is one such unresolved material fact, we reverse the summary judgment and remand the case for trial or other proceedings."