1991

Van Waters & Rogers Inc. v. Steven Regan Company and Steven M. Harmsen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3 of the Utah Constitution and U.C.A. §78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The sole issue presented on appeal is whether or not there were issues of material fact such that the matter could not be resolved by summary judgment. Van Waters & Rogers submits, that based upon the deposition testimony of Stephen M. Harmsen, that the entry of summary judgment was appropriate. The standard of review on this issue is for correctness. Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman, 790 P.2d 587 (Utah 1990). This court should review the facts in the light most favorable to Stephen M. Harmsen. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The appeal, as framed by the appellant, turns upon the application of Rule 56, U.R.C.P.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was one to determine, among other things, the personal liability of Stephen M. Harmsen as the guarantor of an account that existed between Van Waters & Rogers, Inc., and the co-defendant, Steve Regan Company. Steve Regan Company has apparently

not joined in the appeal. There was no dispute regarding the amount of the obligation owed by Steve Regan Company to Van Waters & Rogers.

The guaranty signed by Stephen M. Harmsen stated in part as follows:

This guaranty is being given for my benefit and the benefit of the marital community composed of my wife and myself, and the obligation created by this Guaranty shall be binding upon me individually. (emphasis added). (R. 006)

No setoffs were claimed. The sole disputed issue before the trial court on summary judgment was Stephen M. Harmsen's personal liability under the guaranty. (R. 82.)

The trial court entered summary judgment against both Stephen M. Harmsen and Steve Regan Company.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, in its Statement of Facts, has failed to make a single reference to the record on appeal. This Court, for this reason alone, need not consider any of the facts not properly cited to and should assume the correctness of the judgment below. Uckerman v. Lincoln Natl. Life, 588 P.2d 142 (Utah 1978); Koulis v. Standard Oil Co., 746 P.2d 1182 (Utah Ct. A. 1987).

1. On or about February 18, 1987, Stephen M. Harmsen executed a guaranty in favor of Van Waters & Rogers, Inc. for the account of Steve Regan Company. (R. 006) The guaranty is attached hereto as Exhibit "1".

2. The guaranty was requested by Van Waters & Rogers because of the slow pay history of Steve Regan Company. (Letter,

attached hereto as Exhibit "2", deposition testimony of Stephen Harmsen, p. 7, R. 116.)

3. Stephen M. Harmsen signed the guaranty (Exhibit "1"). (Findings of Fact, 1, R. 80) The guaranty states in part that:

This guaranty is being given for my benefit and the benefit of the marital community composed of my wife and myself, and the obligation created by this guaranty shall be binding upon me individually and also upon the marital community composed of my wife and myself.

Steve Regan Co.
(signed) Stephen M. Harmsen, pres. (s)

4. The parties stipulated in open court that Steve Regan Company was liable to Van Waters & Rogers. (Findings of Fact, 8, R. 82.)

5. In his deposition taken on February 9, 1990, Stephen M. Harmsen testified contrary to an earlier affidavit on several key issues as follows:

Q. So it's my understanding that -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that with regard to the subject of the guaranty, that you never had any conversation with anyone from Van Waters & Roger?

A. I am saying that when the guaranty was presented, put in front of me, I don't know that Van Waters' representative was present at that time. Could have been, could not have been. (P. 8)

. . . .

Q. Prior to the time that you signed it [the guaranty], did you discuss the guaranty with anyone from Van Waters & Rogers?

A. My recollection is no.

Q. All right. After you signed it, did you have any conversation with anyone from Van Waters & Rogers about the guaranty?

A. Not for some -- not until 1988.

(R. 70, 71, deposition of Stephen M. Harmsen, R. 116, p. 8 and 9.)

6. The trial court found that Stephen M. Harmsen did not express to any agent or employee of Van Waters & Rogers any reservation with respect to the guaranty. (Findings of Fact, 6; R. 81, 82.)

7. Subsequent to his deposition, Stephen M. Harmsen filed no further affidavits with the court to explain or justify the contradictions between his deposition testimony and the affidavit which he had previously executed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was appropriately granted in this case based upon the stipulations made by the parties in open court regarding the amounts due, the liability of Steve Regan Company, and based upon the deposition testimony of Stephen M. Harmsen.

ARGUMENT

I. The Summary Judgment Should Be Affirmed.

Stephen M. Harmsen relies upon two factors in advancing his appeal. The first is that Harmsen allegedly had conversations with Van Waters' agents wherein Harmsen contends it was agreed that Harmsen's guaranty was limited. The second factor is that there was a failure of consideration for the guaranty based upon a contention asserted for the first time on appeal that the debt was

in existence prior to the time the guaranty was executed. Each of these arguments fails for the reasons set forth herein.

A. There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact.

In his affidavit dated November of 1989, Mr. Harmsen made many statements regarding the guaranty and conversations that he allegedly had with agents of Van Waters limiting his personal liability. When his deposition was taken several months later, Mr. Harmsen candidly acknowledged that he could not recall having ever discussed the guaranty with anyone from the plaintiff either before or after he signed it. (R. 70,71.) In his Brief, Harmsen has conveniently ignored the deposition testimony which he gave.

The rule in this state when there are inconsistencies between deposition testimony and affidavits is articulated in the Utah case of Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170 (Utah 1983). In Webster, the plaintiff testified first in his deposition and then gave conflicting statements in his affidavit. This court, stated as follows:

But when a party takes a clear position in a deposition, that is not modified on cross examination, he may not thereafter raise an issue of fact by his own affidavit which contradicts his deposition, unless he can provide an explanation of the discrepancy....A contrary rule would undermine the utility of summary judgment as a means for screening out sham issues of fact.

...The rule that a party may not rely on a subsequent affidavit that contradicts his deposition to create an issue of fact on a motion for summary judgment does not apply when there is some substantial likelihood that the deposition testimony was in error for reasons that appear in the deposition or the party-deponent is able to

state in his affidavit an adequate explanation for the contradictory answer in his deposition.

(675 P.2d 1172, 1173.)

In this case, Mr. Harmsen testified clearly and unequivocally in his deposition that he did not speak with anyone from Van Waters & Rogers regarding the guaranty. No subsequent effort was ever made by Mr. Harmsen to reconcile the clear testimony which he gave in his deposition with the statements contained in his prior affidavit or to show that his statements in his deposition were erroneous. Under these circumstances, the trial court properly relied upon the deposition testimony in support of its order granting summary judgment.

Additional Utah authority supporting the result of the trial court on this issue is found in Guardian State Bank v. Humphreys, 762 P.2d 1084, 1087 (Utah 1988) and Floyd v. Western Surgical Associates, 773 P.2d 401, 403 (Utah App. 1989). In each of these cases, summary judgment was sustained based upon the deposition testimony of a party where there was a failure to explain discrepancies between the deposition testimony and contradicting affidavits.

In effect, Stephen Harmsen asks this court to find a genuine issue of material fact based solely upon his own contradictory testimony. For the reasons discussed, this would be inappropriate.

It appears more likely that what occurred in this case was that Mr. Harmsen had some subjective or unexpressed thoughts

regarding the guaranty which were never expressed to Van Waters & Rogers. Subjective intentions to limit a guaranty could not be binding upon Van Waters & Rogers and should not be considered by this court in limiting the personal liability assumed by Harmsen under the guaranty. Janzen v. Phillips, 432 P.2d 189 (Wash. 1968).

If Mr. Harmsen's conversations regarding the guaranty were, as he acknowledges in his deposition, solely with the employees of his own company, those conversations would be barred at trial by the Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 802, as hearsay. Because the conversations would not be admissible at trial, they were properly excluded from consideration by the trial court in ruling upon the motion for summary judgment. Norton v. Blackham, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983). In addition, the language of the guaranty with respect to the personal liability of Mr. Harmsen is very clear. Any conversation by Mr. Harmsen prior to signing the guaranty to the contrary would be parole evidence and barred by the parole evidence rule. That type of evidence would be excluded at trial and was also properly excluded from consideration by the court in the summary judgment proceedings. Norton, supra.

B. There Was No Failure of Consideration for the Guaranty.

The second issue advanced by Stephen Harmsen is that there was no consideration for his guaranty. Based solely upon the Rules of Civil Procedure, this argument must fail. Mr. Harmsen did not plead any defense based upon failure of consideration in his answer (R. 15-17). Failure of consideration is an affirmative

defense required to be specifically plead under Rule 8(c), U. R. C. P. Failure to plead the defense constitutes a waiver.

In addition, the only evidence regarding the debt which was guaranteed was that set forth in the affidavit of Frank Emory (R. 29-39) filed in support of the motion for summary judgment. The guaranty was dated February 18, 1987. (R. 6) All of the invoices attached to the affidavit of Mr. Emory reflect shipments made in July, August and September of 1987, subsequent to the execution of the guaranty.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the District Court should be affirmed.